IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

DOE NO. 1,
Defendant and Petitioner,
v.

SUPREME COURT FILED

LATRICE RUBENSTEIN, Plaintiff and Respondent

AUG 1 6 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS



After a Decision From the Court of Appeal of California, Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D066722

*Lee H. Roistacher, Esq. (SBN 179619) Richard J. Schneider, Esq. (SBN 118580) Daley & Heft, Attorneys at Law 462 Stevens Avenue, Suite 201, Solana Beach, CA 92075 Tel: (858) 755-5666 / Fax: (858) 755-7870 Attorneys for Defendant and Petitioner: Doe No. 1

Issues Presented

- A. Does the Government Code's strictly construed claim presentation deadlines (deadlines requiring presentation of a claim no later than six months after the cause of action's accrual and requiring presentation of an application for leave to present a late claim no later than one-year after accrual) apply regardless of the delayed discovery provisions of Code of Civil Procedure section 340.1 (section 340.1)?
- B. In light of the 2008 amendment to Government Code section 905, subdivision (m), where the Legislature in response to this Court's decision in *Shirk v. Vista Unified School District* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 201 (*Shirk*) eliminated the claim requirement for only those childhood sexual abuse causes of action based on conduct occurring after January 1, 2009, should an adult victim of childhood sexual abuse occurring before January 1, 2009 be barred from suing a government entity if he or she failed to present a claim to the government entity within six months of the abuse?

Introduction And Summary Of Argument

The answer to both issues presented is "yes."

This case is about the interplay between the Government Claims Act (Government Code section 810, et seq.) (Act) and section 340.1 and their competing public policies. The Act requires prompt notice to a government entity of claims against the entity for the purposes of timely investigation, remediation, and fiscal planning. It imposes special, short, and strictly-enforced requirements and deadlines for those wanting to sue a government entity. (See Shirk, supra, 42 Cal.4th at p. 213 (discussing policy); City of Stockton v. Superior Court (2007) 42 Cal.4th 730, 738 (City of Stockton) (same).)

In contrast, section 340.1 creates special, extended limitation periods for adults bringing childhood sexual abuse causes of action against abusers and non-perpetrator third parties. Section 340.1 embodies the recognition that victims of

¹ For example, before suing a government entity, one must present a claim to the government entity within six months of the cause of action's accrual. (*Shirk, supra*, 42 Cal.4th at pp. 208-209; Government Code §§ 905, 911.2, subd. (a).) Doe provides a detailed discussion of the Act's requirements and deadlines later in this brief.

childhood sexual abuse may not understand, appreciate, or remember the harm they have suffered or the full effects of it until adulthood, and for these reasons, causes of action of this nature warrant extended limitation periods.

The Legislature has weighed the competing policy interests behind the Act and section 340.1 and drew a bright line. In 2009. the Legislature enacted Government Code section 905, subdivision (m) to exempt section 340.1-based childhood sexual abuse causes of action from the Act's claim presentation requirements and deadlines. It did so, however, only for claims based on conduct pre-dating the January 1, 2009 effective date of Government Code section 905, subdivision (m). As demonstrated by precedent, including *Shirk*, and the legislative history of Government section 905, subdivision (m) and an unsuccessful predecessor bill, the Legislature never intended for section 340.1 to alter the accrual date of childhood sexual abuse causes of action or the Act's claim presentation requirements and deadlines for childhood sexual abuse causes of action based on conduct predating January 1, 2009.

The Court of Appeal in Rubenstein v. Doe No. 1 (2016) 245
Cal.App.4th 1037 (Rubenstein), failed to apply or even consider

this precedent and clearly undid the Legislature's weighing of the competing policy interests behind the Act and section 340.1.

Rubenstein held that section 340.1 applies to childhood sexual abuse causes of action against a government entity—even those based on pre-January 1, 2009 conduct—and alters or extends the accrual date for these causes of action for purposes of the Act's claim presentation deadline. (Id. at pp. 1045, 1047-1048.)

Not only is Rubenstein's holding unprecedented, it is diametrically at odds with clear and settled law to the contrary. Shirk and V.C. v. Los Angeles Unified School Dist. (2006) 139 Cal.App.4th 499 (V.C.) – decisions the Court of Appeal neither discussed nor cited – both hold that: (1) section 340.1 does not govern the accrual date for childhood sexual abuse causes of action for purposes of the Act's six-month claim presentation deadline; and (2) timely compliance with the Act's six-month claim presentation deadline requires presentation of a claim within six months of the abuse notwithstanding section 340.1.²

² The Court of Appeal's failure to acknowledge the existence of *V.C.* and *Shirk* is troubling. (See *Auto Equity Sales, Inc. v. Superior Court* (1962) 57 Cal.2d 450, 455 (intermediate court must follow decisions of higher court); *In re Hansen* (2014) 227 Cal.App.4th 906, 918 (intermediate court should follow decisions of other intermediate court absent a good reason).) The Court of

(Shirk, supra, 42 Cal. 4th at pp. 210-214 (notwithstanding section 340.1, childhood sexual abuse cause of action accrues for purposes of the Act's six-month claim presentation deadline when the abuse occurs; Legislature never intended section 340.1 to override the Act's claim filing deadlines or to revive causes of action against government entities previously barred for failing to comply with the Act's six-month claim presentation deadline); V.C., supra, 139 Cal.App.4th at pp. 508-512 (section 340.1) extends the time for one to commence a lawsuit for childhood sexual abuse but does not alter the accrual date, which is when the abuse occurred; Legislature never intended for section 340.1 to trump the Act's six-month claim presentation deadline)³; see also County of Los Angeles, supra, 127 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1268-1269 ("In 1998, the Legislature amended section 340.1 to permit victims of childhood sexual abuse to sue persons or entities other

Appeal surely should have explained why it was not bound by *Shirk* and what good reason existed not to follow *V.C.*

³Review was granted in *Shirk* to resolve a conflict between the lower court's opinion (the same Court of Appeal involved here) and *County of Los Angeles v. Superior Court* (2005) 127 Cal.App.4th 1263 (*County of Los Angeles*). (*Shirk, supra*, 42 Cal.4th at pp. 206-207.) Since *Shirk* did not mention *V.C.*, Doe notes that a review of this Court's dockets reveals that briefing in *Shirk* was complete before *V.C.* was decided.

than the actual abuser. [Citation.] . . . [Citations.] To the extent that section 340.1 now authorizes suits against a person or entity other than the actual perpetrator, nothing in that statute or the legislative history of the 1998 amendment to that statute reflects an intent on the part of the Legislature to excuse victims of childhood sexual abuse from complying with the Act when the defendant is a public entity or public employee".)4

Additionally, Rubenstein ignored the importance of legislative action subsequent to Shirk and V.C. Recognizing that Shirk held that the Act mandated the presentation of a claim within six months of the last act of abuse regardless of repressed memories or delayed discovery, the Legislature addressed Shirk's impact by amending Government Code section 905 to add subdivision (m). Effective January 1, 2009, Government Code section 905, subdivision (m) exempts from the Act's claim presentation requirements "[c]laims made pursuant to Section 340.1 of the Code of Civil Procedure for the recovery of damages

⁴In *County of Los Angeles*, the Court of Appeal held that the Government Code section 945.6's six-month statute of limitations for filing suit after a government entity rejects a claim, and not section 340.1's extended limitation periods, governs the timeliness of an action for childhood sexual abuse. (*County of Los Angeles, supra*, 127 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1266, 1268-1270.)

suffered as a result of childhood sexual abuse." (Government Code § 905, subd. (m).) Critical to the issues presented in this case, the Legislature expressly limited the claim exemption "only to those claims arising out of conduct occurring on or after January 1, 2009." (*Ibid.*)

The Legislature initially proposed a bill that would completely undo Shirk (and V.C.) by exempting from the Act's claim presentation requirement and its six-month deadline all childhood sexual abuse causes of action no matter when the abuse occurred. (See Senate Bill No. 1339 (2007-2008 Reg. Sess.).) But the bill that eventually passed and established Government Code section 905, subdivision (m) drew a bright line - for fiscal policy reasons - exempting from the Act's claim presentation requirement and six-month deadline only those childhood sexual abuse causes of action based on conduct occurring after January 1, 2009. (Senate Bill No. 640 (2007-2008) Reg. Sess.), as amended July 14, 2008.) By choosing not to exempt all childhood sexual abuse causes of action from the Act's claim presentation requirement and its six-month deadline, the Legislature approved, accepted and reaffirmed the holdings in Shirk and V.C. and confirmed that the Act requires a claim for

childhood sexual abuse based on pre-January 1, 2009 conduct to be presented within six months of the last abuse.

The impact of *Rubenstein* cannot be underestimated. Under Rubenstein, section 340.1 indefinitely extends the Act's six-month claim presentation deadline for childhood sexual abuse causes of action against government entity defendants because section 340.1, subdivision (b)(2) has no outside age limitation. Under Rubenstein, a 65 year-old timely complies with the Act's six-month claim presentation deadline for abuse occurring 50 years earlier if the claim is presented to the government entity within six-months of discovering the abuse. Such a result drastically circumvents the public policy reasons behind the Act's claim presentation requirement and deadlines and the need to treat government entities different than private entities. (See City of Stockton, supra, 42 Cal.4th at p. 738 (discussing policy for requiring claim); Shirk, supra, 42 Cal.4th at p. 213 (same).)

Doe No. 1 (Doe) recognizes requiring presentation of a claim within six months of the last abuse and requiring an application for leave to present a late claim within a year of the abuse for pre-January 1, 2009 conduct will leave some victims of childhood sexual abuse without a remedy. But the Legislature is

in the best position to balance the interests of government entities, the public in general, and victims of childhood sexual abuse. Indeed, "[t]he Legislature is charged with balancing the interests of persons and third party defendants." (Quarry v. Doe I(2012) 53 Cal.4th 945, 983 (Quarry.) Any further alteration to this balance must come from the Legislature. (See Estate of Horman (1971) 5 Cal.3d 62, 77 ("Court's do not sit as superlegislatures to determine the wisdom, desirability or propriety of statutes enacted by the Legislature."); Vergara v. State (2016) 246 Cal.App.4th 614, 644 ("Policy judgments underlying a statute are left to the Legislature; the judiciary does not pass on the wisdom of legislation.").)

III.

Factual And Procedural Statement

A. Doe returned as untimely Rubenstein's 2012 claim for childhood sexual abuse and denied Rubenstein's application for permission to present a late claim

In June 2012, Rubenstein, 34 years old at the time, presented a claim to Doe alleging sexual abuse in 1993 and 1994 (when she was 15 or 16) by a volunteer track coach. (Clerk's Transcript, Volume 1, pages 136-137 (1 CT 136-137).)

Rubenstein alleged in her 2012 claim that she discovered repressed memories of the 1993 and 1994 sexual abuse within the prior six months. (1 CT 136.) In August 2012, Doe returned Rubenstein's claim as untimely. (1 CT 140.)

In September 2012, Rubenstein sought permission from

Doe to present a late claim. (1 CT 142.) Rubenstein asserted

that section 340.1, subdivision (a) rendered her claim timely

because she presented her claim within six months of discovering

the previously repressed memories of the 1993 and 1994 abuse.

(1 CT 142.) Doe denied Rubenstein's application. (1 CT 145.)

B. The trial court granted Rubenstein relief from the Act's claim presentation requirements

In March 2014, Rubenstein petitioned the trial court for relief from the Act's claim presentation requirements.⁵ (1 CT 080-096.) Rubenstein declared she was sexually and psychologically abused by her track coach in 1993 and 1994 when she was a minor, and that the abuse included sexual intercourse. (1 CT 090.) She further declared counseling she received in

⁵ This actually was Rubenstein's second petition for relief. Rubenstein previously filed one in December 4, 2012, along with a complaint against Doe and others (1 CT 001-019.) But Rubenstein dismissed her complaint without prejudice on March 14, 2013 before her petition for relief was heard. (1 CT 025-032, 044-051, 066.)

February 2012 caused her memories of the abuse to resurface. (1 CT 090.) Rubenstein argued section 340.1, subdivision (a) rendered her June 2012 claim to Doe timely because it was presented within six months of the February 2012 resurfacing of the repressed memories. (1 CT 087-088.)

Opposing Rubenstein's petition, Doe argued that
Rubenstein's claim accrued for purposes of the Act's six-month
claim presentation deadline when she was last abused in 1994,
and section 340.1, subdivision (a) did not extend the Act's sixmonth claim presentation deadline or the Act's one-year late
claim application deadline. (1 CT 099-105.) Doe further argued
the trial court lacked jurisdiction to grant Rubenstein relief
because more than a year passed since the 1994 accrual of
Rubenstein's cause of action. (CT 099-105.)

In August 2013, the trial court granted Rubenstein's petition. (1 CT 161-163.) The trial court found Rubenstein's June 2012 claim timely presented because her cause of action accrued under section 340.1, subdivision (a) when her memories of the 1993 and 1994 abuse resurfaced in February 2012. (1 CT 161-163.)

C. Rubenstein's first amended complaint

In May 2014, Rubenstein filed her first amended complaint alleging three negligence causes of action against Doe and others. (2 CT 361-368.) Rubenstein alleged her volunteer high school track coach sexually abused her in 1993 and 1994 and she repressed the memories of the abuse until early 2012. (2 CT 361, 363.) Rubenstein alleged Doe knew or should have known the volunteer coach would have abused minors and knew or should have known he was abusing Rubenstein, yet did nothing to prevent the abuse from occurring. (2 CT 364, 365, 366.)

D. Trial court sustained Doe's demurrer without leave to amend because Rubenstein did not and could not timely comply with section 340.1's certificate of merit requirements

In August 2014, the trial court sustained without leave to amend Doe's demurrer concluding that Rubenstein failed to comply with section 340.1's certificate of merit requirements and could not timely correct this defect.⁶ (2 CT 531-535.).

⁶A plaintiff over 26, like Rubenstein, "shall file certificates of merit as specified in subdivision (h)." (Code of Civil Procedure § 340.1, subd. (g).) "[T]he purpose of the certificates of merit requirement is to impose 'pleading hurdles aimed at reducing frivolous claims.' (Sen. Com. on Judiciary, 3d reading analysis of Sen. Bill No. 108 (1989–1990 Reg. Sess.) as amended Aug. 15, 1990, p. 5.)" (Jackson v. Doe (2011) 192 Cal.App.4th 742, 752; McVeigh v. Doe 1 (2006) 138 Cal.App.4th 898, 903-904

E. Court of Appeal held that section 340.1 governs the accrual date of Rubenstein's childhood sexual abuse cause of action against Doe for purposes of the Act's six-month claim presentation deadline and determined that Rubenstein timely complied by presenting her claim within six months of discovering repressed memories of the abuse

Rubenstein argued on appeal that the trial court improperly sustained Doe's demurrer without leave to amend because she complied or could still timely comply with section 340.1's certificate of merit requirements. Doe disagreed but argued, alternatively, that a judgment of dismissal was proper despite any trial court error because the trial court lacked jurisdiction to grant Rubenstein's petition for relief from the Act's claim presentation requirements. Thus, any trial court error in sustaining the demurrer without leave to amend on the certificate of merit issue was not prejudicial.

Rejecting Doe's argument "that the trial court lacked jurisdiction to grant a Government Code section 946.6 petition" the Court of Appeal held "that the statutory delayed discovery rule of [] section 340.1 applie[s] to delay the accrual date of plaintiff's action for childhood sexual abuse. (Code Civ. Proc.,

⁽certificates of merit requirement serves "to prevent frivolous and unsubstantial claims").)

section 340.1, subd. (a))." (*Rubenstein, supra*, 245 Cal.App.4th at p. 1043.) According to the Court of Appeal:

The accrual date for claim filing purposes is the same as the accrual date for a corresponding civil cause of action. (Gov. Code, § 901.) Code of Civil Procedure section 340.1 sets forth the limitations period for filing an action for childhood sexual abuse. (Quarry v. Doe I(2012) 53 Cal.4th 945, 952 (Quarry).) Thus, section 340.1 governs the accrual date for claim filing purposes.

(*Id.* at p. 1045.) ⁷ Relying on the "statutory delayed discovery rule in section 340.1" and its provisions rendering an action timely commenced against an entity like Doe within three years of discovering that psychological injuries were caused by childhood sexual abuse, the Court of Appeal found the claim Rubenstein presented to Doe in June 2012 was timely because she presented it within six months of her February 2012 discovery of her repressed memories of the 1993 and 1994 sexual abuse. (*Id.* at 1047-1048.)

Rejecting Doe's argument that the enactment of

Government Code section 905, subdivision (m) supported the

conclusion that section 340.1 does not alter or delay the Act's six-

⁷The Court of Appeal also held the trial court erred on the section 340.1 certificate of merit issue. (*Rubenstein, supra*, 245 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1049-1057.) Doe did not seek review on this issue and does not discuss it.

month claim presentation deadline for claims based on pre-January 1, 2009 conduct, the Court of Appeal said:

Although not relevant here, it is important to note that in 2008 the Legislature added subdivision (m) to Government Code section 905, to provide an exception to the claim presentation requirement for childhood sexual abuse claims arising out of conduct occurring on or after January 1, 2009. Because the conduct in this case occurred in 1994, this amendment does not apply. Nonetheless, we agree with an observation made by the K.J. court that the amendment appears 'declaratory of existing law to the extent that it applies the delayed discovery doctrine to the accrual of a cause of action brought by an adult plaintiff against a public entity for childhood sexual abuse.' (K.J., supra, 172 Cal.App.4th at p. 1234, fn. 2.)[8]

(Rubenstein, supra, 245 Cal.App.4th at p. 1046.)9

⁸ K.J. v. Arcadia Unified Sch. Dist. (2009) 172 Cal. App. 4th 1229.

⁹ In her answer to Doe's petition for review, Rubenstein argued the Court of Appeal correctly determined her claim was timely under common law delayed discovery. As Doe explained in its reply, and as is evident from the decision, the Court of Appeal relied solely on section 340.1's delayed discovery provisions and not on common law delayed discovery. Indeed, the Court of Appeal noted that this Court in "Quarry eliminated the common law delayed discovery doctrine for childhood sexual abuse claims." (Rubenstein, supra, 245 Cal.App.4th at p. 1047; see Quarry, supra, 53 Cal.4th at pp. 983-984 (discussing that the Legislature's 1994 elimination of reference to common law delayed discovery in section 340.1 reflected an intention "that common law delayed discovery principals should [not] apply to cases governed by section 340.1").) Doe anticipates Rubenstein will argue in her merits brief that common law delayed discovery renders her claim timely. Because the Court of Appeal did not rely on common law delayed discovery, and Rubenstein did not present that issue in her answer as an additional issue for

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