S234269

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

#### LATRICE RUBENSTEIN,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

VS.

**DOE** #1,

Defendant and Respondent.

FILED

OCT 172016

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION 1, CASE NO. D066722 HON. JUAN ULLOA, JUDGE, SUPERIOR COURT NO. ECU08107



## ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

# LAW OFFICES OF ELLIOT N. KANTER

Elliott N. Kanter, SBN 95054 2445 Fifth Avenue, Suite 350 San Diego, California 92101 Telephone: (619) 231-1883 Email: ekanter@enkanter.com

#### **ESNER, CHANG & BOYER**

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I.

# THE STATUTORILY DEFINED DELAYED DISCOVERY RULE FOUND IN CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE SECTION 340.1 APPLIES TO DETERMINE THE DATE OF ACCRUAL FOR GOVERNMENT TORT CLAIM FILING PURPOSES

Generally, and prior to the enactment of Government Code section 905, subdivision (m) (which provides an exception to the claim presentation requirement for childhood sexual abuse claims arising out of conduct occurring after January 1, 2009), the plaintiff must present a timely written claim for damages to the public entity before a civil action may be asserted against the entity. (Gov. Code § 945.4, subd. (b).) Pursuant to Government Code section 911.2, subdivision (a), a plaintiff must file a claim with defendant no later than six months after "the accrual of the cause of action." (Gov. Code, § 911.2, subd. (a).) In the alternative, a late claim may be presented within a reasonable time after accrual, not to exceed one year. (Gov. Code, § 911.4, subd. (b).) A court, however, lacks jurisdiction to grant relief if the late claim application is filed more than one year after the cause of action accrued. (Gov.Code, § 911.4, subd. (b).)

Pursuant to Government Code section 901, "The accrual date for claim filing purposes is the same as the accrual date for a corresponding civil cause of action." (Gov. Code, § 901 (emphasis added).)

Applying the above legal principles, the Court of Appeal concluded "Section 340.1 sets forth the limitations period for filing an action for childhood sexual abuse. (*Quarry v. Doe I* (2012) 53 Cal.4th 945, 952, 139 Cal.Rptr.3d 3, 272 P.3d 977 ("*Quarry*").) **Thus, section 340.1 governs the accrual date for claim filing purposes**." (*Rubenstein*, at p. 1045 (emphasis added).)

The Court of Appeal detailed how this Court's decision in *Quarry* supported its holding that the statutorily defined delayed discovery rule in Section 340.1 governs the accrual date for purposes of filing the government claim. (Id. at pp. 1045-1047.) "Generally, a civil cause of action for child molestation accrues at the time of the molestation (K.J. v. Arcadia Unified School Dist. (2009) 172 Cal.App.4th 1229, 1239 ...), but delayed discovery principles may apply to a cause of action arising out of childhood sexual abuse. (Id. at p. 1241 ....) As detailed in Quarry, section 340.1 has been amended numerous times. (*Quarry, supra*, 53 Cal.4th at pp. 962-972 [].) As relevant here, the Legislature removed reference to common law delayed discovery principles from section 340.1 in 1994. (*Quarry*, at p. 983 [].)." (*Rubenstein, supra*, at p. 1045-1046.) Indeed, as recognized by this Court in *Quarry*, the amendments to Section 340.1 "created its own statutory delayed discovery rule, evidencing intent to provide a new rule that would extend delayed discovery principles beyond what had been recognized in the case law." (Quarry, at p. 965 (emphasis added).)

As explained by this Court in *Norgart v. Upjohn Co.* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 383, while a claim generally accrues at the time "the wrongful act is done," application of a statutory or common law discovery rule *postpones* the date of accrual. (Norgart, 21 Cal.4th at p. 397.)

The general rule for defining the accrual of a cause of action sets the date as the time "when, under the substantive law, the wrongful act is done," or the wrongful result occurs, and the consequent "liability arises...." (3 Witkin, Cal. Procedure, supra, Actions, § 459, p. 580, italics omitted.) In other words, it sets the date as the time when the cause of action is complete with all of its elements [Citations omitted].

3

An exception to the general rule for defining the accrual of a cause of action — indeed, the "most important" one — is the discovery rule. (3 Witkin, Cal. Procedure, supra, Actions, § 463, p. 583.) It may be expressed by the Legislature or implied by the courts. (Ibid.) It postpones accrual of a cause of action until the plaintiff discovers, or has reason to discover, the cause of action. (Ibid.; see Neel v. Magana, Olney, Levy, Cathcart & Gelfand, supra, 6 Cal.3d at p. 179, 98 Cal.Rptr. 837, 491 P.2d 421 [postponing accrual "until the [plaintiff] discovers, or should discover, his cause of action"].)

(Ibid. (emphasis added).)

K.J., a case cited by the Court of Appeal here, is instructive. There, the plaintiff had been sexually abused by her teacher when she was 16 years old. She turned 18 during her senior year in December 2005. In July 2006, after graduation, the plaintiff told her mother of the relationship with her teacher and began therapy. Plaintiff's mother reported the abuse in October 2006, and the teacher was arrested. While the plaintiff continued her therapy, she alleged that she was still in love with her teacher and did not believe he had done anything wrong. It was not until July 2007, that she realized she had been victimized by the teacher. (K.J., 172 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1235-1236.) The defendant filed a demurrer on the grounds that the claim, filed in September 2007, was untimely. According to the defendant, the claim accrued in 2005 when the plaintiff reached age 18, or, in July 2006, when she told her mother about the relationship and began therapy. The trial court agreed.

Reversing the order sustaining the demurrer, the Court highlighted that the principle issue is the date the plaintiff's claims *accrued*. (*Id*. at p. 1233.) While the Court noted that the extended *statute of limitations* set forth in Section 340.1 does not apply since "sexual abuse victims who bring suit against a public entity are bound by the much shorter statute of limitations set forth in section 945.6 [i.e. six months from accrual of the claim]" the Court explained that the statutorily defined discovery rule outlined in Section 340.1 is applicable to determine the date of accrual. (*Id*. at pp. 1242-1243.)

The Court specifically rejected the defendant school district's argument that Section 340.1 cannot be considered when determining the date of accrual. (*Id.* at p. 1243, fn. 7.)

At oral argument, counsel for the District argued this court should not look to Code of Civil Procedure section 340.1 to determine the date of accrual; instead, this court should look to Government Code section 911.2. However, section 911.2 merely requires presentation of a claim within six months of 'accrual of the accrual of the cause of action' - it does not define the date of accrual for purposes of presenting a claim to a public entity. Counsel for the District then went on to acknowledge the date of accrual for purposes of filing a government claim is *the same* as the date of accrual in an action in which no public entity is involved. (§ 901.)

Therefore, the conclusion is ineluctable that the date of accrual in Code of Civil Procedure section 340.1, pertaining to private defendants, is applicable to the presentation of a claim to a public entity for damages arising out of childhood sexual abuse.

(K.J., 172 Cal.App.4th at p. 1243, fn. 7 (emphasis added).)

Thus, it is the statutorily defined delayed discovery rule in Section 340.1 that determines the of accrual for claim filing purposes.

The District continues to misunderstand this precept of the law. While the District acknowledges "[a]ccrual of the cause of action for purposes of the [Act] is the date of accrual that would pertain under the statute of limitations applicable to a dispute between private litigants," citing Government Code section 901 (OB at p. 19), the District insists that "Section 340.1 does not control when childhood sexual abuse causes of action accrue because it is a statute of limitations" (OB at p. 25). But, such a position makes no sense. What the District fails to understand is that, while the statute of limitations for a civil action may not apply to trump the six month claim filing statute of limitations, the Legislature's definition of accrual for purposes of determining when the statute of limitations is triggered does apply to determine the date of accrual for government tort claim purposes. (See K.J., supra, at pp. 1242-1243.)

Consideration of cases concerning the date of accrual for claim filing purposes against public entities in areas outside of sexual abuse claims illustrate the flaw in the District's argument. (See e.g. Whitfield v. Roth (1974) 10 Cal.3d 874, 884-888 [medical malpractice]; Jefferson v. County of Kern (2002) 98 Cal.App.4th 606, 610-611 [medical malpractice]; People ex rel. Dep't of Transp. v. Superior Court (1980) 26 Cal.3d 744, 750-751 [equitable indemnity].) In Whitfield, a medical malpractice action, the trial court granted a motion for nonsuit brought by the defendant county on the ground of failure to present a claim against the county within 100 days after accrual of the cause of action on which the claim was based as required by

then existing Government Code section 911.2. To determine whether the claim was in fact untimely, this Court begin its analysis by stating: "It is necessary, therefore, first to consider what is meant by the phrase 'accrual of the cause of action on which the claim is based' which event by virtue of the provisions of section 911.2 starts the running of the 100-day claim presentation period and, secondly, to determine whether Mary presented her claim within such period." (Id. at p. 884 (emphasis added).) After quoting Government Code section 901, this Court held "the date of accrual for the purpose of starting the claim presentation period 'is the same as for the statute of limitations which would otherwise be applicable.' [Citation]" (Ibid.)

Whitfield then noted that the statute of limitations with respect to malpractice commences to run when the plaintiff discovers the injury and its negligent cause or, through the exercise of reasonable diligence, should have discovered it. (Id. at p. 885; see also Code of Civ. Proc. § 340.5 ["In an action for injury or death against a health care provider based upon such person's alleged professional negligence, the time for the commencement of the action shall be three years after the date of injury or one year after the plaintiff discovers, or through the use of reasonable diligence should have discovered, the injury, whichever occurs first. ..." (emphasis added)].) Finding evidence that the claim was timely under this delayed discovery rule, the Court reversed the order granting nonsuit and affirmed the judgment entered on the jury verdict. (Whitfield, supra, at pp. 883-889; see

also *People ex rel. Dep't of Transp.*, *supra*, 26 Cal.3d at pp. 750-751 [after quoting Government Code section 901, this Court noted: "Thus, the relevant question in this case turns on whether the defendants' equitable indemnity actions would be deemed to accrue for purposes of the statute of limitations 'if the action were between private litigants."].)

As explained in *Jefferson*, *supra*, also a decision involving an analysis of the accrual date for a government tort claim in a medical malpractice case: "By enacting section 901, the Legislature directed the courts to apply the statute of limitations corresponding to the cause of action asserted-in this case, Code of Civil Procedure section 340.5. The determination about when a cause of action has accrued for purposes of this statute is a proper subject for a jury when the facts are in dispute."

(*Jefferson*, supra, 98 Cal.App.4th at p. 614-615 (emphasis added).)

The issue in *Jefferson* was whether the determination as to the date of accrual for purposes of government claim filing was a question of fact - just as the date of accrual for purposes of statute of limitations. (*Ibid.*) On that point, the Court highlighted: "The fact the issue [of accrual] arises in the context if the claims statute rather than in the context of the statute of limitations, and the fact that the defendant is a public entity rather than a private person or entity, are not distinctions that make a difference. The nature of the inquiry and the purpose of the inquiry are the same - a determination about whether the action at law for damages may proceed." (*Id.* at pp. 614-615.)

Just as *Whitfield* and *Jefferson* applied the delayed discovery rule applicable to the determination of the statute of limitations in a claim for medical malpractice to determine the date of accrual, here too Section 340.1 defines the date of accrual for purposes of filing a government tort claim.

Without acknowledging application of the discovery rule, the District blithely repeats throughout its opening brief that "childhood sexual abuse causes of action accrue at the time of the abuse." (See OB at p. 26, see also pp. 4-6, 8, 27, 32, 40, 50-51, 53-54.) Under *Norgart*, and indeed even the cases cited by the District (as discussed below), while a claim may generally accrue at the time of the wrongdoing, the accrual date may be *postponed* pursuant to the discovery rule, which as noted in *Norgart*, "may be *expressed by the Legislature* or implied by the courts." (See *Norgart*. 21 Cal.4th at p. 397.) Through Section 340.1, a claim does not accrue until "the plaintiff discovers or reasonably should have discovered that psychological injury or illness occurring after the age of majority was caused by the sexual abuse." (Code Civ. Proc. § 340.1 (emphasis added).)

As highlighted by the Court of Appeal, here it was not until "early 2012, when Rubenstein was about 34 years old, the latent memories of the sexual abuse resurfaced. These allegations of ultimate fact are sufficient to invoke the delayed discovery rule of accrual." (*Rubenstein*, 245 Cal.App.4th at p. 1047-1048.) Rejecting the District's position that the trial court lacked jurisdiction to grant a Government Code section 946.6 petition, the Court properly concluded "[t]he claim she presented to defendant in

June 2012, within six months after she allegedly realized that coach had sexually molested her, is timely for pleading purposes." (*Id.* at pp. 1043, 1047-1048.)

The Court of Appeal therefore appropriately recognized that pursuant to Government Code section 901, Code of Civil Procedure section 340.1 "governs the accrual date for claim filing purposes" and renders Plaintiff's claim timely. (*Id.*)

A. Contrary to The District's Position, the Court of Appeal's Finding that Section 340.1 Applies to Determine the Date of Accrual for Claim Filing Purposes Decision Does Not Conflict with Shirk, V.C. or County of Los Angeles.

According to the District, the Court of Appeal's conclusion that Section 340.1 governs the accrual date for claim filing purposes is "diametrically at odds" with *Shirk* and *V.C. v. Los Angeles Unified School District* (2006) 139 Cal.App.4th 499. (OB at p. 4.) The District goes so far as to argue that the absence of any discussion of *Shirk* and *V.C.* in the Court's opinion is "troubling" and posits that the Court of Appeal "surely should have explained why it was not bound by *Shirk* and what good reason existed not to follow *V.C.*" (OB at pp. 4-5.) Setting aside such exaggerated hyperbole, the likely reason *Shirk*, *V.C.*, as well as *County of Los Angeles* (see OB at p. 34-38) are not cited in the Court's opinion is because the opinions are not relevant in an analysis as to when a claim accrues

## i. V.C. and County of Los Angeles

The District begins its discussion with V.C. and as such, so will Plaintiff. (See OB at p. 28.) In V.C., the plaintiff was sexually molested by her teacher between 2001 and 2003. (V.C., 139 Cal.App.4th at p. 504.) The plaintiff's mother had suspected something was going on and discussed the matter repeatedly with school administration. By August 2003, the teacher was criminally charged for his abuse of V.C. On September 17, 2004, V.C. presented her claim for damages against the District. After it was rejected, the plaintiff brought her civil action against the school district and the District demurred on the ground that claim was untimely. The trial court agreed. As she had below, the plaintiff argued that Section 340.1 "sets the date of accrual of her cause of action at or beyond the age of majority, thereby rendering her claim timely." (*Id.* at p. 509 (emphasis added).) According to the plaintiff, her claim for childhood sexual abuse did not accrue, until the earliest, eight years after she attained the age of majority. The Court rejected the notion that the claim could not accrue before the plaintiff reached the age of majority, and noted that "V.C. confounds the principles of limitations periods and accrual dates." (Ibid.) The Court held that nothing in Section 340.1 reflects an intention by the Legislature to supplant the limitations period provided in Government Code section 911.2. (*Id.* at pp. 508-514.)

V.C. 's refusal to disregard the government code's six-month statute of limitations does not shed light on the issue here concerning when the

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